**RECEIVED**  
**Mar 02 2026**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Dale Van E. Van Slambrook, Presiding Judge

---

Case No. 2018-CP-10-03929  
Appellate Case No. 2025-001689

---

John Doe ..... Appellant.

v.

Bishop of Charleston, a Corporation Sole, and the  
Bishop of Charleston, in his official capacity..... Respondents.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

HALLER LAW FIRM, P.C.

*s/ David K. Haller*

David K. Haller  
604 Savannah Highway  
Charleston, SC 29407  
(843) 224-7860

[dhaller@hallerlawfirm.com](mailto:dhaller@hallerlawfirm.com)

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANTS

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Appellant John Doe (Doe) filed an Amended Complaint in the Charleston County Circuit Court on August 29, 2018. As alleged in his Amended Complaint, Doe was born in 1957 and as a child around the ages of 12 to 14 (*i.e.*, around 1969 to 1971) he was sexually molested by Chris Hartnett and Hal Brooks, two teachers at Sacred Heart Catholic School, a parochial school operated by the Defendants-Respondents (Diocese). Doe further alleged that the Diocese had encouraged him to trust, revere, obey, and confide in his teacher Hartnett and another Sacred Heart School teacher Brooks, both abusers of Doe, and that the Diocese not only knew or should have known of the sexual abuse but also tried to conceal it. Doe alleged further that his memory of these events had been repressed and he learned of the abuse and of the causal relationship between his injuries and the sexual abuse, the Diocese's knowledge of the abuse, and the Diocese's concealment of the abuse only within the two years before filing. Based on these and other facts, Doe asserted claims for relief based on sexual abuse, and claimed outrage, negligence/gross negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, intentional infliction of emotional distress, fraudulent concealment, civil conspiracy, negligent retention or supervision, breach of contract, and breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act.

In response to the Amended Complaint, the Diocese filed a series of motions, several of which resulted in orders adverse to the Diocese, and from which the Diocese has attempted to pursue interlocutory appeals. Among the motions filed by the Diocese are a motion to dismiss; a motion to strike portions of the Amended Complaint; a motion to stay discovery; a motion for protective order concerning discovery; a motion for partial summary judgment as to "The Bishop of the Diocese of Charleston, in his official capacity"; a motion to disqualify Doe's counsel; a motion for summary judgment as to all claims based upon the common law doctrine of charitable

immunity; a motion for summary judgment as to all claims based upon the statute of limitations/lack of admissible evidence of repressed memory; a motion for summary judgment based upon *res judicata* effect of a 2007 class action settlement; a motion for summary judgment regarding Doe's negligence, negligent retention, negligent supervision and outrage/intentional infliction of emotion distress claims; a motion for summary judgment regarding Doe's claim of conspiracy; a motion for summary judgment regarding Doe's fraud-based and contract claims; and a motion for summary judgment as to Doe's claim for breach of fiduciary duty.

After hearing three of the Church's summary judgment motions on December 12, 2019, the trial Court required counsel for both sides to submit proposed orders, which was done. On January 9, 2020, the hearing judge issued the order proposed by the Diocese granting them summary judgment based solely upon the doctrine of charitable immunity.

The Diocese filed no Rule 59(e) motion seeking additional rulings on its other motions for summary judgment based on the statute of limitations/lack of admissible evidence of repressed memory syndrome and on the *res judicata* effect of a 2007 class action settlement.

Doe appealed the grant of summary judgment on charitable immunity, the second appeal in this matter.<sup>1</sup> In that appeal, the Diocese made all of the same arguments it makes here not only on charitable immunity, but also the statute of limitations. The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's grant of summary judgment. *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 440 S.C. 640, 891 S.E.2d 522 (Ct. App. 2023). The Supreme Court accepted certiorari and subsequently reversed both the Court of Appeals and the circuit court and remanded the case. *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 445 S.C. 319, 11 S.E.2d 323 (2025). The Supreme Court specifically rejected that Diocese's attempts to assert the statute of limitation as a defense.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Diocese filed a frivolous appeal concerning a discovery matter and then sought certiorari on the loss of that appeal. Appellate Case No. 2020-000318.

On remand, the Diocese asserted all of the same defenses and again sought dismissal of the action based on the statute of limitations despite that defense having been rejected by the Supreme Court. On July 7, 2025, in the face of that rejection, the trial court granted the Diocese summary judgment on the grounds that Doe’s claims violated the three-years statute of limitations. This appeal ensued.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The gravamen of Doe’s claim is that as a young grammar school student at Sacred Heart School, of the Diocese of Charleston, he was molested by teachers in the fall of 1970.<sup>2</sup> Doe was visited at his home by his teacher Chris Hartnett who spoke with Doe and Doe’s parents and received their parental permission to take Doe to an event in the Columbia area. Hartnett subsequently transported Doe alone in his vehicle, not to any learning related event<sup>3</sup>, but rather to a private residence where a party was being conducted and where a second teacher from Sacred Heart School was present. Doe was the only child at the gathering and was given alcohol and marijuana and was subsequently sodomized by the two teachers.

---

<sup>2</sup> **Transcript of John Doe’s deposition (R. pp. 344-501)**  
**P108, L13 – P109, L9 (R. p. 451, line 13-p. 452, line 9)**

BY MR. DUKES: Chris Hartnett was your homeroom teacher when you were in the seventh grade, right?

DOE: Sixth. Pretty sure it’s the sixth. Or at least the last half – the latter of the sixth. I don’t have a vivid knowledge of been going there a whole year, whether it had been one year or the next year or for a year and then part of the next year. I can’t remember that. You’d have to get school records for that one.

DUKES: Yes, I’ve got them, and I’ll show you.

DOE: Okay.

DUKES: It jumps around on you but in 1969 and 1970 you had a lady who taught you in the sixth grade.

DOE: Okay.

DUKES: And then 1970, 1971, Chris Hartnett was your seventh grade teacher.

**P118, L7-10 (R. p. 461, lines 7-10)**

DUKES: What time of year did this party take place?

DOE: Somewhere in the fall. I’m sure of that.

<sup>3</sup> **Transcript of John Doe’s deposition (R. pp. 344-501)**

**P115, L3 – 7 (R. p. 458, lines 3-7)**

DUKES: How did this trip to Columbia come about?

DOE: Well, he said we were going up there to see a museum or something and ended up at a friend of his house and Brooks was there.

Doe had been taught to revere, respect, trust, confide in, and adhere to the directives of his teachers and clergy, priests, and also nuns of the Roman Catholic Diocese of Charleston. He was taught that persons of authority were to be obeyed, and their directives complied with.

Doe described the location of the party as being off Gervais Street in a private residence. After that event, Doe was taken by Hartnett and Brooks to what seems to have been a bar, perhaps catering to homosexuals, where he was given to a bar patron who displayed a desire for sexual favor by embracing and kissing young Doe.

Doe's seventh grade report card, academic year September 1970 – May 1971, was relied upon by the Diocese as establishing the fact of him being Hartnett's student and also the general time of the molestation. Ultimately, Doe was abandoned at the bar in Columbia, got away from it, and finally hitchhiked back to Charleston and his home.

Doe's is a case of repressed memory or dissociative amnesia, which doctrine is recognized in South Carolina. See *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 334 S.C. 150, 511 S.E.2d 699 (Ct.App.1999) and *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court is well-aware of the standard for the drastic remedy of summary judgment. "Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRCF. "In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Catawba Indian Tribe of South Carolina v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 642 S.E.2d

751 (2007). *Schmidt v. Courtney*, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct.App.2003) (stating that all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party). Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Gadson v. Hembree*, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533 (2005); *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 529, 608 S.E.2d 440 (Ct.App.2004). “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 376 S.C. 37, 656 S.E.2d 20 (2007) “The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” *Bradley v. Doe*, 374 S.C. 622, 649 S.E.2d 153 (Ct.App.2007). “Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” *Helena Chem. Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 631, 594 S.E.2d 455 (2004).

## ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE BASIS OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WHERE THREE EXPERTS OFFERED OPINIONS ON DOE’S REPRESSED MEMORIES, WHERE THE LAW OF CORROBORATING EVIDENCE IS NOT FULLY DEVELOPED AND WHERE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST REGARDING THE CHAIN OF EVENTS OF DOE’S ABUSE.

In the case of *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000)<sup>4</sup>, the Supreme Court allowed for the statute of limitations to be stayed for those who suffer from repressed memories until the memory, established by expert testimony of the repression and

---

<sup>4</sup> The Defendants, which routinely degrade the victims of its acknowledged pattern of enabling sexual abuse, calls repressed memories, “junk science.” In actuality, the Defendants are attempting to argue that *Moriarty* should be overturned. The law as it currently stands clearly allows the evidence of repressed memories to proceed.

“corroborating evidence” of the abuse. The trial court found there was no evidence in the record on either point, a determination that fails to consider the record as a whole.

**A. Genuine issues of material fact existed on the expert testimony of Doe’s repressed memory.**

The trial court held, “Plaintiff presented no admissible expert testimony regarding repressed memory syndrome.” Order at 5. This finding is a blind eye by the court to the record before it. Here, *three* doctors testified that Doe suffered from repressed memory of his abuse. See Ex. H, I, J, and K to Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Judgment. “[Doe] does clearly appear to have non-volitionally repressed memories of the abuse by schoolteacher to the point of not remembering that he actually was in the 7<sup>th</sup> grade.” Ex. L. Sally Duffy is a licensed psychologist with more than 40 years experience in treating patients and who has previously been admitted as an expert on repressed memory. Depo of Duffy, p. 17, ln 1-8. The Diocese may not like the science, but the evidence of Doe’s repression is substantial and complies with the law. Regardless, there was evidence in the records of Doe’s abuse and repressed memory. Accordingly, granting summary judgment was in error.

**B. Genuine issues of material facts exist as to the corroborating evidence of Doe’s abuse.**

Corroborating evidence, which may be either direct or circumstantial, includes:

“(1) an admission by the abuser; (2) a criminal conviction; (3) documented medical history of childhood sexual abuse; (4) contemporaneous records or written statements of the abuser, such as diaries or letters; (5) photographs or recordings of the abuse; (6) an objective eyewitness's account; (7) evidence the abuser had sexually abused others; or (8) proof of a chain of facts and circumstances having sufficient probative force to produce a reasonable and probable conclusion that sexual abuse occurred.”

*Moriarty*, at 336, 680.

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Gadson v. Hembree*, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533

(2005). To the best of the appellant's knowledge, no case, either in South Carolina or outside of the state-- has ever done a deep analysis on what the level of proof needed to make these elements. The closest appears to be an unpublished opinion from 2014 and even it simply held the record contained no corroborating evidence. *Doe v. Smith*, 2014 WL 2968925 (Ct. App 2014). As an initial ground for remand, this matter would be better tried so the record could be fully developed before a jury.

Nevertheless, the record includes multiple pieces of evidence of the abuse. Specifically, there exists a, "proof of a chain of facts and circumstances having sufficient probative force to produce a reasonable and probable conclusion that sexual abuse occurred." *Moriarty*, at 336, 680. Admittedly, this case is a classical circumstantial evidence case. However, as the Supreme Court noted, circumstantial evidence carries the same weight of as direct evidence. *Moriarty*, at 337, 680. While the Diocese may argue that *Moriarty* represents an enigma of evidentiary law, the Supreme Court has already rejected that analysis and made clear the same rules of the weight of evidence exist for repressed memory claims as for all other claims.

At summary judgment, it is the duty of a court to determine whether genuine issues of material facts exist for a jury to find for the plaintiff. It is not the duty of the court to determine whether such facts are true or the weight of the same—that duty rests exclusively with the jury. *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 463, 892 S.E.2d 297, 301 (2023). In a circumstantial case, the question becomes whether there is a chain of events to support the plaintiff's theory. The trial court failed to analyze this question and instead merely granted judgment.

The record before the court contains at least the following corroborating evidence: 1) Doe's testimony that he was forced to engage in fellatio with Hartnett and essentially kidnapped to

Columbia for a sex party (Ex. I); 2) proof that Doe was a student at Sacred Heart (Ex. F); 3) proof that Hartnett as Doe's teacher (Ex. G); and 4) the Diocese's admissions that sexual abuse and rape of children routinely occurred by its priests and agents and those rapes were-- as a matter of Diocesan policy-- covered up (Ex. H). Such evidence, combined, is sufficient circumstantial evidence to meet the eighth prong for summary judgment purposes. It is for the jury to determine if the weight is sufficient to meet the elements of the law. The trial court erred in holding otherwise and the case should be remanded for trial.

II. THE DIOCESE'S MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WERE DENIED BY THE SUPREME COURT IN A PRIOR APPEAL AND THAT DENIAL IS THE LAW OF THE CASE.

In the prior appeal before the South Carolina Court of Appeals and Supreme Court on the Defendants' losing charitable immunity excuse for enabling the abuse of children, it asserted all of the motions they make now. Ex. A. The Supreme Court expressly declined to grant the Defendants judgment on those claims. Ex B. "We decline to address any alternate sustaining ground for summary judgment, and we remand Petitioner's claims to the trial court." After the Supreme Court reviewed the Defendants' defenses, it only remanded the petitioner's claims; the Supreme Court could have entered judgment on the alternate grounds re-asserted here, but instead did not remand the Defendants' defenses. "The appellate court may review respondent's additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment." *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000).

Having had a full opportunity to argue and appeal these same motions, the denial of those motions is the law of the case. "Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or

raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court.” *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009). Here, the Defendants made all of the same arguments, lost those arguments, and have now come back before this court for yet another bite at the apple.<sup>5</sup>

Doe brought this case in 2018. The Defendants have done everything possible to avoid being held accountable by a jury of their peers. The case has been on appeal twice. The first, a clearly frivolous attempt to avoid the Defendants’ discovery obligations, was dismissed by the Court of Appeals as interlocutory. Ex. C. They then followed that dismissal with a meritless petition for certiorari on the same frivolous issue, causing more delay. Doe then had to proceed to vindicate his rights on a clearly erroneous decision of law on the charitable immunity issue, which he did, but not before four more years of stagnation.

The point is that Doe, having faced two appeals and won them both, is entitled to a trial, win or lose. No more motions that avoid the inevitable or create more appellate burden. While Doe believes these motions have been heard, denied and now invalid, the Defendants still retain the ability to make motions at the directed verdict portion of the trial. Hence, while to trying to quadruple dip, it does so without any prejudice to it. Please remand this case and allowed Doe to have his day in court.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Doe respectfully requests that the orders of the Circuit Court be reversed.

HALLER LAW FIRM, P.C.