THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Sep 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Dale E. Van Slambrook, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-10-03929

Appellate Case No. 2025-001689

John Doe, Appellant,

v.

Bishop of Charleston, a Corporation Sole, and
the Bishop of the Diocese of Charleston, in his official capacity, Respondents,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Richard S. Dukes, Jr. (SC Bar No. 16563)
Turner Padget Graham & Laney, P.A.
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 200 (29401)
Post Office Box 22129
Charleston, South Carolina 29413-2129
Phone: (843) 576-2810
rdukes@turnerpadget.com

Carmelo B. Sammataro (SC Bar No. 69746)

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

²⁰ *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. at 525-26, 787 S.E.2d at 489-90 (2016) (citations and quotations omitted); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535 (2005) (“[A]ll actions initiated under Section 15-3-530(5) must be commenced within three years after the person knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action.”).

²¹ *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363-64, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996).

²² *Id.*

on his or her claim to the date a reasonable person would be on sufficient notice that he or she had suffered an injury.²³ The person does not have to know who caused his or her injury, only that he or she has suffered an injury. Under the theory of repressed memory syndrome as explained in *Moriarty*, when an event occurs that is horrifically traumatic, the victim will attempt to cope by *completely* shutting the memory out.²⁴ When a memory is repressed, the person's conscious mind will have no access to the circumstances and specific incidents that were traumatic.²⁵ Under the theory, repressed memory is not at all like the ordinary process of forgetting bad experiences or a person choosing not to think about them.²⁶ *Moriarty* did not create an exception to South Carolina's statutory or common law, but rather was a direct application the discovery rule in Section 15-5-535 to this particular psychiatric condition.²⁷ Also, the question is not whether Appellant himself was on notice by a certain date, but whether the resurfacing memories would have put a reasonable person on sufficient notice for the statute of limitations to commence.²⁸

Moriarty involved a claim by a woman in her early twenties who claimed to have repressed and suddenly recovered memories of having been molested at a day care facility when she was between ages three and five. In their decision regarding application of the discovery rule, both the South Carolina Supreme Court and Court of Appeals expressed deep concerns regarding repressed memory syndrome in their decisions.²⁹ As both Courts acknowledged, the theory of repressed memory syndrome was, at the time, highly controversial among psychiatrists and psychologists –

²³ *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 334 S.C. 150, 157-58, 511 S.E.2d 699, 703 (Ct. App. 1999) "*Moriarty I*" and *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 330, 534 S.E.2d 672, 677 (2000) "*Moriarty II*."

²⁴ *Moriarty I*, 334 S.C. at 157-58, 511 S.E.2d at 703.

²⁵ *Id.*, 344 S.C. at 158, 511 S.E.2d at 703.

²⁶ *Id.*, 344 S.C. at 158, 511 S.E.2d at 703.

²⁷ *Moriarty II*, 341 S.C. at 334, 534 S.E.2d at 679.

²⁸ *Id.*

²⁹ *Moriarty II*, 341 S.C. at 333, 534 S.E.2d at 678.

as the Supreme Court noted, there was no consensus among the psychological, medical, or legal communities regarding the validity of the theory of repressed memory.³⁰ Critically, both Courts likewise acknowledged “the horrific possibility of false accusations” and that objectively verifiable corroborating evidence is required because of “the disagreement among the psychological and medical communities about the validity of repressed memory syndrome, the danger a plaintiff’s memories could be faked or implanted during therapy, and the desire that a plaintiff not have the ability to control the running of the statute of limitations solely by allegations whose only support is contained within the plaintiff’s mind.”³¹ Because of these concerns, the South Carolina Supreme Court required that a plaintiff claiming that repressed memory syndrome should delay the commencement of the statute of limitations must present both at the summary judgment stage and at trial: (1) independently verifiable objective evidence that corroborates a repressed memory claim and (2) expert testimony to prove both the abuse and the fact of the repressed memories.³² The Supreme Court concluded its decision by saying: “We express no opinion on the merits of Moriarty’s claim or on the validity of repressed memory syndrome as it may apply in her case. We reverse the grant of summary judgment to Church and remand this case for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.”³³

³⁰ *Moriarty II*, 341 S.C. at 330, 534 S.E.2d at 677.

³¹ *Moriarty II*, 341 S.C. at 335-36, 534 S.E.2d at 680, *citing* *Roe v. Doe*, 28 F.3d 404, 408-09 (4th Cir. 1994) (suggesting that corroborative evidence of abuse and repressed memory should be required) (Hall, J., concurring); *Olsen v. Hooley*, 865 P.2d 1345, 1349-50 (Utah 1993) (requiring corroborating evidence because of concerns about the reliability of memory in general and revived memories in particular, and the difficulty of defending against claims of revived memories of sexual abuse long past); *S.V. v. R.V.*, 933 S.W.2d at 7-15 (Tx. 1996) (discovery rule applies in repressed memory case only when claim is “inherently undiscoverable” and “objectively verifiable” through corroborating evidence; court assumed plaintiff’s injury was inherently undiscoverable, but rejected application of discovery rule because she offered no corroborating evidence).

³² *Moriarty II*, 341 S.C. at 336, 534 S.E.2d at 678.

³³ *Moriarty II*, 341 S.C. at 340, 534 S.E.2d at 680.

The *Moriarty* Courts held that the a plaintiff must introduce admissible, independently verifiable, objective corroborating evidence that substantiates the claim of abuse by submitting: (1) an admission by the abuser; (2) a criminal conviction; (3) documented medical history of childhood sexual abuse; (4) contemporaneous records or written statements of the abuser, such as diaries or letters; (5) photographs or recordings of the abuse; (6) an objective eyewitness's account; (7) evidence the abuser had sexually abused others; or (8) proof of a chain of facts and circumstances having sufficient probative force to produce a reasonable and probable conclusion that sexual abuse occurred.³⁴ This independently verifiable objective corroborating evidence is a prerequisite for tolling the statute of limitations during the time of repression.

Appellant's sole foundation for his repressed memory claim is through "a chain of facts" that he argues constitutes independently verifiable objective evidence of the abuse. Appellant cited no evidence at all to satisfy his burden under items (1) through (7) above. Appellant contends that: (a) he was a student at a Catholic elementary school; (b) that the teachers he alleges abused him were employed at the school; and (c) anecdotal evidence that sexual abuse of minors historically occurred at Catholic churches and schools. That tenuous line of reasoning does not satisfy Appellant's burden under *Moriarty* to provide independently verifiable objective corroborating evidence in support of his claim. Moreover, Appellant's "chain of facts" rests on irrelevant, speculative, and inadmissible suppositions and speculation. Appellant's claims regarding chain of facts are neither objective, nor independently verifiable. In essence, Appellant seeks to base his claim on an impermissible inference that all adults at Catholic churches and schools must be

³⁴ *Moriarty II*, 341 S.C. at 336, 534 S.E.2d at 680, quoting *Moriarty I*, 334 S.C. at 171, 511 S.E.2d at 710.

considered pedophiles simply because they are fulfilling roles with Catholic ministries and operations.³⁵ Additionally, Appellant’s final link in his “chain of facts” is inadmissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE, which would not permit introduction of evidence of the criminal conduct of other people, at other times, in other places, and in other circumstances to constitute independently verifiable, objective evidence of Appellant’s claimed abuse.³⁶

Quite simply, Appellant failed to submit *any* admissible evidence to corroborate his alleged abuse and repressed memory claim.³⁷ He failed to comply with his substantial burden to introduce independently verifiable objective evidence of the abuse as required under *Moriarty* to support application of the discovery rule in a repressed memory case. That failure, standing alone merited summary judgment. The circuit court’s order should be affirmed.

b. Summary judgment should be affirmed on the additional basis that Appellant failed to adduce admissible expert testimony to establish the fact of his abuse and the facts of his repressed memory.

Appellant also failed to present the required admissible expert testimony pursuant to *Moriarty* to establish the fact of the alleged abuse by the teachers, the fact of the repressed memories, and that those memories were repressed between his 18th birthday – May 28, 1975³⁸ –

³⁵ It must be noted that such a blanket unwarranted presupposition by civil courts that all adult Catholics are sexual predators would constitute an irredeemable violation of the First Amendment rights of Catholics to freely exercise their faith, to freely assemble, and minister the Gospel free of government interference. Such a blanket presupposition, specifically directed at Catholics, would be unconstitutional. *See, e.g., Employment Division v. Smith*, 494 U.S. 872, 880-1 (1990) (government infringement on free exercise may only be through neutral laws of general applicability). A neutral law of general applicability would necessarily mandate a presumption that every adult who practices any religious faith poses a known and knowable danger of sexually predatory conduct toward all children. That is not and cannot be the law.

³⁶ *See Moriarty I*, 334 S.C. at 170-171, 511 S.E.2d at 710, *quoting Roe*, 28 F.3d at 408.

³⁷ In this case, it is not necessary to undertake a probing analysis of the types of corroborating evidence identified in *Moriarty*, as Appellant has not submitted corroborating evidence of any kind.

³⁸ S.C. Code Ann. § 15-1-320, effective February 6, 1975, changed the age of majority to 18.

until sometime after August 8, 2015 (three years prior to filing the Complaint). There is no expert testimony in evidence to establish that requirement. Appellant’s only evidence is his own words to his therapists – once again, something both *Moriarty I* and *Moriarty II* cautioned against. No testimony pinpointed when Appellant recalled being abused, or when he repressed that memory. There is no admissible expert testimony that would satisfy the requirements set forth in *Moriarty*. There is no admissible expert testimony that Appellant’s alleged recovered memories are even accurate.

While Appellant asserts that “three doctors testified that Doe suffered from repressed memory of his abuse (App. Brief at 6), either that testimony was inadmissible or was insufficient to satisfy the requirements of *Moriarty*. In any event Appellant’s doctors – only one of which was a Ph.D. – relied solely on Appellant’s self-reporting – exactly the thing *Moriarty* cautioned against. The testimony in the record does not support Appellant’s claims but rather casts further doubt on Appellant’s claims. Dr. Sally Duffy, the psychologist Appellant identified as a potential expert, could not identify with any specificity when Appellant may have first recovered the memory of his abuse. Duffy could not establish any timeline for Appellant’s claimed recovered memories. Dr. Duffy is the only licensed psychologist who saw Appellant – but she only saw him only once. Even then, the record before the circuit court reflects that:

- She thought that, in 2012, when Appellant moved from Charleston to Greenville without his wife, “that was a huge, huge thing for him.” “He started having all kind of problems, couldn’t cope and he was overwhelmed.” “It was around 2012 he started having some – some blips of memory . . . because he was completely falling apart at that point and he was overwhelmed by emotion.” “[T]hat made some kind of sense to me, which was hard because there were so many inconsistencies.”³⁹
- Dr. Duffy went farther – “But, apparently, I think – I think personally, I think the trigger for him primarily was the overwhelming negative emotions and stress associated with moving to Greenville [in 2012], where he didn’t really want to go,

³⁹ Deposition of Sally Duffy, 105-106 (R. 459–460, 1947-1948). *See also* R. 517 – 537 (*passim*).

and having to live without his wife. . . .”⁴⁰

- She could not say when Appellant remembered the abuse:
Q: But with John Doe, there’s no way for us to say when he began, when he remembered the abuse?
A: No. Like I said, it’s my opinion that he started having blips after – with the stress of moving to Greenville.
Q: In 2012?
A: In 2012. And, like you said, his wife said something about the surgery [in 1999], so I don’t know⁴¹
- Dr. Duffy agreed that Therapist Whalen recorded that Appellant mentioned remembering his abuse after heart bypass surgery in 1999.⁴²
- Dr. Duffy admitted that she could not differentiate between repression and mere non-reporting “not unless you know them pretty well, not unless you spend a lot of time with them . . . but me, seeing him that one time, it would be hard for me to do.” She admitted she could not make that differentiation, “not in a one-shot deal.”⁴³

Appellant’s psychotherapist, Dorothy Whalen, noted regarding Appellant’s first session with her on June 27, 2016, that he reported having a history of “sex abuse by neighbor (age 6) and by adults at a Catholic facility a few years later. These memories were repressed until a few years ago when [increased] sx dev (after heart bypass surgery).⁴⁴ Appellant’s brief appears to treat Ms. Whalen as one of three “doctors” who had diagnosed Appellant with repressed memory syndrome. Yet, Ms. Whalen is not a psychologist or psychiatrist, but a licensed clinical social worker who could not conduct the “thorough clinical evaluation” required before expert testimony could be received under *Moriarty 1*.⁴⁵

⁴⁰ Duffy deposition, 107 (R. 460, 1949).

⁴¹ Duffy deposition, 109 (R. 460, 1951).

⁴² Duffy deposition, 105 (R. 459, 1947).

⁴³ Duffy deposition, 86-87 (R. 455).

⁴⁴ Redacted note of Therapist Dorothy Whalen (R. 125).

⁴⁵ *Moriarty 1*, 334 S.C. at 170-71, 511 S.E.2d at 710; *see also* R. 517-537.

Appellant also seems to refer to Jason Flassing, P.A., who managed Appellant’s medication as one of the “doctors” who diagnosed Appellant’s condition. Flassing’s initial psychiatric evaluation documented that Doe’s memory was intact, based on “direct observation—him being able to provide a history of events that was accurate.” Doe “was able to provide symptoms from the time he was a child.” This means that Doe’s own psychiatric treatment provider—at the first intake assessment—found his memory functioning normally and documented it in the clinical record. But Mr. Flassing is neither a psychologist nor a psychiatrist – he is a psychiatric physician’s assistant who was not qualified as an expert witness and could not make any medical diagnosis nor render any opinion to any degree of medical certainty. While Appellant did not detail his claim of abuse to Flassing, the record reflects that Appellant consistently referred to having been abused by a priest when he was a child.⁴⁶

Additionally, the record further clouds the issue because Appellant’s wife testified that he began experiencing severe depression as early as 2000 and 2002. He began crying and entered deep depression in 2010 - 2012 and would only say that he was so ashamed. Depression increased and became unmanageable after the move to Greenville in 2012.⁴⁷ Also, the records obtained from the VA Hospital in Greenville note that “[Appellant] was seen by Dr. Thode. States brought up a lot of memories of something that happened in church and that was not good.”⁴⁸

In short, Appellant has not presented any expert testimony of his alleged abuse by the teachers or expert testimony establishing of the timing when he knew or should have known of his injury. The evidence did not support the application of the discovery rule under *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God* to postpone the commencement of the statute of limitations until

⁴⁶ Flassing deposition, 9 (R. 1960, 1555).

⁴⁷ Deposition of Mrs. Doe, 20: 21 – 21: 21; 29: 16-22; 48: 13 – 49: 15. (R. 1954-1958).

⁴⁸ Redacted VAH records (R. 127-129).

August 8, 2015 – three years before Appellant filed his complaint. Appellant’s inability to satisfy that burden places him in exactly the position that gave both the South Carolina Supreme Court and Court of Appeals such grave concern – Appellant’s own self-reporting of what he says he did and did not remember is the only evidence. The ability to self-bolster otherwise unreliable and unprovable claims is precisely what the *Moriarty* Courts cautioned against.

II. APPELLANT’S GROUNDS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WERE NOT BARRED BY THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE IN ANY RESPECT.

Respondents’ arguments advanced in favor of summary judgment were in no way barred by the law of the case doctrine – which, requires a ruling on a matter that was not appealed.⁴⁹ Contrary to Appellant’s position, Respondents were not required to obtain a ruling from the circuit court on every issue raised in their summary judgment motions. As the South Carolina Supreme Court noted in *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant* “it would be inefficient and pointless to require a respondent to return to the judge and ask for a ruling on other arguments to preserve them for appellate review. It also could violate the principle that a court usually should refrain from deciding unnecessary questions.”⁵⁰ As former Chief Justice Toal wrote in *Appellate Practice in South Carolina*, “Accordingly, under *I’On* a party is best served by raising additional sustaining grounds before the trial court; however when the lower court rules in one party’s favor, it is not necessary for that party to return to the court and ask for a ruling on remaining issues and arguments in order to preserve those arguments” for use later.⁵¹ It is well-settled that “[t]he appellate court may review respondent’s additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court’s judgment. An appellate court may

⁴⁹ See, e.g., *Ross v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 328 S.C. 51, 492 S.E.2d 62 (1997).

⁵⁰ *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000).

⁵¹ Toal, J. et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina*, 192 (South Carolina Bar – CLE Division, 2016).

not rely on Rule 220(c), SCACR, when the reason does not appear in the record, or when the court believes it would be unwise or unjust to do so in a particular case. It is within the appellate court's discretion whether to address any additional sustaining grounds."⁵²

Nothing required the Supreme Court to rule on Respondents' asserted additional sustaining grounds and the Court's declining to rule means does not mean that such grounds could no longer be raised in motion practice before the circuit court on remand. Respondents have preserved the statute of limitations as a defense throughout this case, just as they have preserved their other available legal defenses.

CONCLUSION

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